## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC\_\_\_\_\_

On Petition for Discretionary Review of A Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal (Fourth District Case No. 4D02-4466)

# DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

SUN-SENTINEL, INC., Respondent.

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION**

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHRISTOPHER M. KISE Solicitor General

JEFFREY M. SCHUMM Assistant Attorney General

## **OFFICE OF THE SOLICITOR GENERAL**

The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 410-2672 (fax) *Counsel for Petitioner* 

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, the Department of Children and Families ("the Department"), an agency of the State of Florida ("State of Florida"), seeks review of a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Department of Children and Families v. Sun-Sentinel, Inc.*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D510 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA Feb. 19, 2003) (hereinafter "the decision below").

In May 2002, the State Attorney for Palm Beach County brought a criminal prosecution against certain parents accusing them of criminal neglect of minor children. (App. at 1). While the criminal case was pending, the Respondent, Sun-Sentinel, Inc. ("the newspaper"), filed a petition seeking access to confidential records maintained by the Department and concerning these children. (App. at 1).<sup>1</sup>

In order to protect the rights of the child and the child's parents or other persons responsible for the child's welfare, all records held by the department concerning reports of child abandonment, abuse, or neglect, including reports made to the central abuse hotline and all records generated as a result of such reports, shall be confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1) and shall not be disclosed except as specifically authorized by this chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The records at issue are confidential and exempt from the general public records disclosure requirements of section 119.07(1), Fla. Stat. (2002).

<sup>§ 39.202(1),</sup> Fla. Stat. (2002). Under section 119.07(7)(a), however, any person or organization may petition the court for a determination as to whether "good cause" exists for public access to such records, as the newspaper did in the instant case. *See* § 119.07(7)(a), Fla. Stat. (2002).

The Department timely filed a motion challenging venue and requesting that the case be dismissed or transferred to Leon County, the location of the Department's headquarters, based upon the Department's home venue privilege.<sup>2</sup> (App. at 1). The trial court determined venue was proper in Palm Beach County, and it denied the motion on all grounds.<sup>3</sup> (App. at 1).

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeals ("Fourth DCA") affirmed the trial court's denial by recognizing a heretofore unrecognized exception to the State's home venue privilege: "[W]e think the correct use of the general venue statute in a case involving access to public records entirely located in one county is that such an action may be brought where the records are being kept and where access is being denied." (App. at 3).

The State of Florida then timely filed its notice to invoke discretionary review by this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Government defendants in Florida have a common law "home venue privilege" to be sued in the county where they maintain their principal headquarters. *See Fla. Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. Triple "A" Enter., Inc.,* 387 So. 2d 940, 942 (Fla. 1980); *Carlile v. Game & Fresh Water Comm'n,* 354 So. 2d 362, 363-64 (Fla. 1977).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Department's motion to dismiss also alleged insufficiency of process and lack of jurisdiction. (App. at 1).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court and of other district courts of appeal regarding the permissible exceptions to the state's "home venue privilege" and the proper application of the "sword wielder" doctrine. The decision below also expressly and directly affects a class of state officers. Accordingly, this Court has discretionary review jurisdiction.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY THIS CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF COURT OR OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME **QUESTION OF LAW.**

The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court

and of other district courts of appeal on at least two grounds.

A. The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with *Jacksonville Electric Authority v. Clay County Utility Authority*, 802 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002), which recognized "only three exceptions" to the home venue privilege - none of which include an exception for suits involving public records requests.

In *Jacksonville Electric Authority*, a case addressing the same question of law as the decision below (i.e., whether the trial court improperly denied a government entity's home venue privilege), the First DCA - unlike the Fourth DCA in the decision below - refused to craft an exception to the home venue privilege beyond that already established by the Florida courts.

Absent waiver or application of an *identified* exception, the home venue privilege appears to be an absolute right. Florida courts have allowed *only three exceptions* to the home venue privilege [i.e., waiver by statute; when a government body is sued as joint tortfeasor; and the "sword-wielder" doctrine].

*Jacksonville Elec. Auth.*, 802 So. 2d at 1192 (emphasis added). The First DCA clearly does not recognize an exception to the home venue privilege for cases involving petitions for access to public records. Moreover, and also unlike the court below, the First District declined to create a new exception to the home venue privilege, concluding, "we are still required to apply the home venue privilege because no exception exists which would allow us to decline to apply the privilege." *Id.* at 1193.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The decision below also expressly and directly conflicts with *Jacksonville Electric Authority* because the Fourth DCA misapplied controlling precedent by considering the absence of factors supporting the policy that motivated the adoption of the home venue privilege as a basis for crafting a new exception. In *Jacksonville Electric Authority*, the First DCA recognizes "[n]o efficient or economic policy is served" by its decision to honor the home venue privilege, and concedes "it would be more appropriate" for a court sitting in another venue to address an underlying issue in the case. 802 So. 2d at 1193. Nonetheless, the First DCA concludes "we are still required to apply the home venue privilege because no exception exists which would allow us to decline to apply the privilege." *Id.* In the decision below, however, the Fourth DCA expressly *relies on* the absence of factors supporting the policy reasons for adopting the home venue privilege as a basis for rejecting its application and creating a new exception. (App. at 2) ("None of the policies that motivated the adoption of the home court privilege are present in this case.").

In short, an irreconcilable holding conflict exists within the "four corners" of these opinions concerning what are the allowable exceptions to the home venue privilege. The First DCA's interpretation holds firm to only three exceptions - none of which include any exception for cases involving public records requests. Moreover, the First DCA squarely rejects the notion that the home venue privilege does not apply when there is a perceived absence of the factors supporting the policy. In direct contrast, the Fourth DCA expressly creates an additional exception to the privilege largely on the basis of a perceived absence of such factors.<sup>5</sup>

# B. The decision below expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court and of other district courts of appeal because it misapplies the "sword wielder" doctrine.

This Court has accepted "misapplication conflict" jurisdiction based upon "erroneous extension," i.e., "where the district court correctly states a rule of law but then proceeds to apply the rule to a set of facts for which it was not intended." Gerald Kogan and Robert Craig Waters, *The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court*, 18 Nova. L. Rev 1151, 1232 (1993). Therefore, to the extent the court below relied on the sword wielder doctrine where there was no allegation of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The dissenting opinion in the decision below also recognizes a conflict exists with the First DCA's decision in *Jacksonville Electric Authority*. (App. at 3) (Shahood, J., dissenting).

violation of a fundamental constitutional right and where the state was not the initial sword wielder, such reliance creates conflict with decisions of this Court and of other district courts of appeal.

# *i)* The decision below does not indicate that a violation of a fundamental constitutional right was alleged.

*Jacksonville Electric Authority* holds that in order for the sword wielder doctrine to apply, the plaintiff must allege a "fundamental" constitutional right violation. 802 So. 2d at 1193; *see also Fish & Wildlife Comm. v. Wilkinson*, 799 So. 2d 258, 263 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (finding allegations in complaint are "not sufficient to allege an appropriate constitutional violation necessary for the application of the sword wielder exception"); *State v. Lindquist*, 698 So. 2d 299, 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

However, there is nothing within the four corners of the decision below that suggests the newspaper alleged a violation of any constitutional right, let alone a fundamental right.<sup>6</sup> The opinion merely states the newspaper "filed a petition" under section 119.07(7) "seeking access to investigative files." (App. at 1). By overlooking

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indeed, the newspaper's petition is void of any allegation concerning a violation of any constitutional right. Moreover, there is no "fundamental" right to access public records. Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution, expressly permits the legislature to make records exempt from general public access.

this key component of the sword wielder doctrine, at least as determined by the First and Second Districts, the decision below creates conflict as to the proper application of the sword wielder doctrine.

# *ii)* The decision below does not establish that the State was the initial sword wielder.

In *Florida Public Service Commission v. Triple "A" Enterprises, Inc.*, 387 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 1980), this Court stated the sword wielder exception to the home venue privilege only applies "if the state is the *initial* sword-wielder in the matter and whether the plaintiff's action is in the nature of a shield against the state's threat." *Id.* at 942 (emphasis added). Moreover, "by merely implementing the law . . . the Department's activity . . . does not constitute sword wielding." *Dep't of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles v. Sarnoff*, 734 So. 2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1998); *State v. Lindquist*, 698 So. 2d 299, 302 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) (finding state must take "affirmative action" for sword wielder doctrine to apply); *Dep't of Rev. v. First Fed. Savings & Loan Assoc.*, 256 So. 2d 524, 526 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971) (finding home venue privilege applies where state or state agency is "passive or dormant").

However, the facts herein establish that, by seeking access to confidential records and filing a petition in order to do so, it was *the newspaper* that wielded the initial sword in this matter. (App. at 1) ("In this action by the newspaper ...," "the

Sun-Sentinel filed a petition..."). The Department, on the other hand, was merely implementing the law by acting as the passive custodian of records it is required, by law, to keep confidential.<sup>7</sup> Indeed, the facts in the decision below reflect that the State took no "affirmative action" against the newspaper, and there was clearly no "threat" to the newspapers as required by the Court in *Triple "A*." Because the court below attempted to apply the sword wielder doctrine where the State was clearly not the initial sword wielder, it misapplied precedent from this Court and other district court of appeals; therefore, conflict jurisdiction exists.

# C. The decision below interjects ambiguity into settled-principles of law and creates conflict on issues of statewide importance.

"The final element in obtaining review of a conflict case is a showing that the issues are significant enough for the Court to exercise its jurisdiction." Kogan and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Department is statutorily obligated under Chapter 39 to keep certain child abuse records (like the ones at issue here) confidential. These records are exempt from disclosure even under the Public Records law with the exception of a limited class of persons under section 39.202 (media not included) or by court order. *See* § 39.202, Fla. Stat. (2002). Indeed, the release of any such records to the newspapers requires a finding of "good cause" by a court. *See* § 119.07(7), Fla. Stat. (2002). Therefore, the Fourth DCA improperly characterizes the Department's mere implementation of the law as an "act of denial." (App. at 3). Such a misperception of the facts arguably also creates misapplication conflict based upon "erroneous use." *See* Kogan and Waters, *supra.* at 1232-33 (misapplication conflict exists where "the district court misapplies a rule of law based on its own misperception of the facts").

Waters, *supra*. at 1237. The decision below interjects ambiguity as to when a state agency is entitled to be sued in a location where it maintains its principal headquarters and also as to what is required for proper application of the sword wielder doctrine. As it stands, the decision creates a lack of uniformity among circuits concerning the application of each of these important doctrines. Moreover, the decision below affects all state agencies in Florida, not just the Department of Children and Families. Accordingly, the conflicts created by the decision below present issues of major consequence to state government and, therefore, are significant enough for this Court to accept jurisdiction.<sup>8</sup>

# II. THE DECISION BELOW EXPRESSLY AFFECTS A CLASS OF STATE OFFICERS.

Article V, section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution, authorizes this Court to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers. *See, e.g., Pullen v. State*, 802 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Additionally, the decision may open the floodgates to further erosion of the state's home venue privilege, thereby significantly reducing or eliminating the very benefits it was intended to achieve. *See*, *e.g.'s*, *Smith v. Williams*, 35 So. 2d 844, 847 (Fla. 1948) (stating home venue privilege exists to "promote orderly, efficient, and economical government;" "[u]niformity of interpretation of rules and regulations;" and "preventing conflicting judicial rulings in different jurisdictions"); *Triple "A" Enter., Inc.*, 387 So. 2d at 943 (finding principal reason behind home venue privilege for state government is to "minimiz[e] expenditure of effort and public funds").

In order to vest this Court with jurisdiction, "a decision must directly and, in some way, exclusively affect the duties, powers, validity, formation, termination or regulation of a particular class of constitutional or state officers." *Spradley v. State*, 293 So. 2d 697, 701 (Fla. 1974).

Article IV, section 6, of the Florida Constitution requires the organization of the executive branch of state government into various "departments," with administration of each to include an "officer" serving at the pleasure at the governor. Accordingly, by requiring state agencies, and the state officers overseeing each of these agencies, to defend public records petitions in the county where such actions are brought, the decision below directly and exclusively affects the "powers" and "duties" of these state officers.

### **CONCLUSION**

For all of the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully requests this Court accept jurisdiction and permit the matter to be briefed on the merits.