IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-410

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES, STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

vs.

SUN-SENTINEL, INC.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SUN-SENTINEL ON JURISDICTION

John R. Hargrove
Florida Bar No. 173745
HEINRICH GORDON HARGROVE
WEIHE & JAMES, P.A.
500 E. Broward Boulevard, # 1000
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394
(954) 527-2800
(954) 524-9481 (fax)

David S. Bralow
Florida Bar No. 802727
Senior Counsel/Florida Media
Tribune Company
633 N. Orange Avenue
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 420-5627
(407) 420-5760 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The sole issue before the Court is whether a Florida citizen seeking access to the public records of DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES ("DCF") must travel to Tallahassee to obtain them. Respondent, SUN-SENTINEL, INC., the publisher of the South Florida Sun-Sentinel newspaper ("the SUN-SENTINEL"), filed a petition under Florida Statutes § 119.07(7)(2001) in an ongoing criminal proceeding in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit (Palm Beach County) for access to DCF records relating to minor children in the custody of DONALD and AMY HUTTON who were criminally charged with child neglect. Slip op. at 1.

The SUN-SENTINEL invited DCF to participate by electronically sending it a facsimile copy of the petition. The following day, DCF moved to dismiss the petition asserting, among other things, that venue was exclusively in Leon County. The trial court denied the motion, and DCF appealed.¹

On February 19, 2003, the Fourth District affirmed the trial court. Regarding the venue issue now before this Court, it said:

We find no error with the trial court's denial of a change of venue. Although it is true that ordinarily a state agency has a common law right under the general venue statute to be sued only in the county where it has its headquarters -- in this instance, Leon County -- that right does not apply here. One of the permissible bases for venue under the general venue statute is the place where the property in litigation is located. In this case, the documents to

Petitioner also asserted insufficiency of process and lack of jurisdiction of the Palm Beach circuit court. Those arguments were likewise rejected by the trial court, as well as the Fourth District, which held that DCF waived its right to challenge the sufficiency of service by seeking the transfer of venue.

which access is sought are being maintained by DCF here in Palm Beach county.

<u>Id.</u> (footnote omitted & emphasis added) Significantly, the Fourth District observed that the SUN-SENTINEL was not seeking a judgment against DCF, any state agency or the State of Florida either for money or its official, non-record-keeping policies. It only sought to exercise its right of access to public records maintained within the jurisdiction of the circuit court already hearing the ongoing <u>Hutton</u> matter. <u>Id.</u> at 1-2. Noting that the "home court" venue privilege is a "judicially created embellishment on the general venue statute," the court found that based on the facts before it, there was no policy motivating its adoption in this particular case. <u>Id.</u> at 2. As a policy matter, it said that it would "severely burden the right of access to public records" if citizens were required "to tread their way to Tallahassee to bring a judicial proceeding just to settle the right to do so", and that no such burden was ever intended by the public records laws of this state. <u>Id.</u> The court therefore concluded that:

[T]he correct use of the general venue statute in a case involving access to public records entirely located in one county is that such an action may be brought where the records are being kept and where access is denied.

<u>Id.</u> at 3. This petition followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is *de novo*.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

DCF asserts that the decision is in conflict with a decision of the First District, yet the case identified is cited only in the dissenting opinion of the decision below, and a dissent cannot serve as a basis for asserting conflict. DCF contends, however, that the dissent correctly states the law and that the majority has improperly extended an exception to its venue argument. The contention is without merit because the Fourth District did not decide this case on the basis of an *exception* to DCF's rule of law regarding venue.

Rather, it correctly held that DCF's venue contention simply did not apply.

DCF concludes by contending that the Fourth District's decision directly affects a class of constitutional and state officers. The contention likewise has no merit. No duties, powers, validity, formation, termination or regulation of any class of constitutional or state officers is even at issue, much less affected.

ARGUMENT

I

This Court's determination of conflict jurisdiction is constrained by the "four-corners" of the *majority* opinion. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). In this case, it is clear from the majority opinion that jurisdiction does not exist. While DCF contends that the decision below conflicts with Jacksonville Electric Authority v. Clay County Utility Authority, 802 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. dismissed, 821 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2002), that decision is neither cited nor discussed in the majority's analysis. Instead, it is referenced only in the dissent. Because a "dissent" is not a "decision" on which conflict can be based, an "express and direct" conflict cannot be shown from a dissenting opinion. Philip J. Padovano, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE § 3.10 at 53 (West 2003); Reaves, supra; Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

Tacitly acknowledging this fact, DCF asserts that there is a "misapplication conflict". It argues that Jacksonville Electric recognizes only three exceptions to the "home court" venue privilege and that the public records request in this case does not fall into any of the exceptions. The argument is misleading and ignores the very basis for the Fourth District's holding, which was limited to a public records request *made within an ongoing action where the records were actually located*. The petition for public records was not filed "against" DCF. Rather, it was filed in the ongoing Hutton matter to establish "good cause" in that proceeding, and DCF was invited to participate. As such, the Fourth District determined that the "home court" venue privilege had no application at all, so it was unnecessary to deal with any exceptions.

In <u>Jacksonville Electric</u>, a local utility filed suit against the city electric authority in Clay County. The city electric company moved for a change of venue and the motion was denied. On appeal, the First District reversed. In its opinion, the court said that while a governmental agency has a "home court" venue privilege to be sued in the county where it maintains its principal headquarters, the privilege is not absolute. It then identified the three exceptions to the rule — waiver by statute, judicial discretion where the governmental entity is an alleged joint tortfeasor, and the so-called "sword wielder" doctrine, which is triggered where a plaintiff's constitutional rights are endangered by a state agency. <u>Id.</u> at 1192.

The court in <u>Jacksonville Electric</u> then went on to note a policy statement of this Court appearing in <u>Board of County Commissioners of Madison County v. Grice</u>, 438 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1983), to the effect that a trial court has discretion to dispense with the "home court" venue privilege where dictated "by considerations of justice, fairness, and convenience under the circumstances of the case." <u>Id.</u> at 395; <u>Jacksonville Electric</u>, 802 So. 2d at 1194. It is evident from the opinion that the First District looked to find an applicable exception to the privilege. But given the facts before the court, it felt "constrained by prior case law" to enforce the rule and reverse. <u>Id.</u>²

Quite apart from the fact that <u>Jacksonville Electric</u> is mentioned only in the dissent, that case did not involve the type of relief requested here. As the Fourth District observed, the SUN-SENTINEL seeks no judgment for damages or declaratory relief against DCF binding that agency's policies and practices. That fact alone renders the "home court" venue privilege inapplicable. Slip Op. at 1-2. The underlying claim in this case is a petition asserting a constitutionally and legislatively protected right to gain access to public records located in Palm Beach County *and it directly concerns people who live in that county*. Moreover, an order enforcing access rights in this case cannot affect any record-keeping policy that applies

The First District certified as a question of great public importance whether trial court discretion would lie in the absence of one of the three exceptions. Judicial history discloses that the matter never reached this Court.

to DCF in some other venue, as each access proceeding stands on its own. Ironically, DCF itself has previously initiated public records matters outside of Tallahassee, see State v. Deeson, 30 Med. L. Rep. 1990 (Fla. 15th Cir. Ct. Dec. 18, 2001), and it has regional offices in places throughout the state that can *and do* handle such matters routinely. This, of course, is in keeping with the constitutional and statutory policy mandate of this state that public records laws are for the *public* good and convenience and are *presumptively open*. See Art. I, § 24, Fla. Const.; Florida Statutes § 119.01(1).³

In a creative attempt to establish a conflict, DCF zeroes in on the "sword wielder" doctrine, a rule of law never mentioned in either the majority opinion or the dissent. DCF nevertheless imputes the doctrine to the majority, and then in a "bootstrap" manner argues that it does not apply.⁴ As mentioned, the facts of this case demonstrate that this is not a situation where the "home court" venue privilege applies at all, so there is no need to analyze *any* exception, much less one that is nowhere to be found in the decision under review. "Express and direct" conflict means exactly that. There is no such thing as "implied" conflict. But even if there were, DCF still would fail in its attempt to establish jurisdiction. The very mention of a public records request goes to the heart of public policy and constitutional rights of Florida citizens. When a

DCF denied access in Palm Beach County -- not Leon County. As the majority makes clear, everything implicit in the public records laws suggest that citizens who seek access to public records must not be inconvenienced and burdened with unnecessary travel. Slip op. at 2. Chapter 119 itself is couched in terms of this state's "policy" of open governmental records; that it is the "duty" of governmental agencies to produce them promptly and effectively; and that any refusal of access warrants an expedited hearing. Given this policy, it would be cynical to suggest that an agency maintaining records in Palm Beach County could avoid its obligation to produce its records there or that it could judicially trump a request therefor by forcing a venue change to Leon County.

DCF contends that to be applicable, there must be an alleged violation of some constitutional right; that here there is none; that the state must be the initial "sword wielder"; and that here it was not.

request is refused, fundamental rights are directly impacted. Refusing access casts DCF as the "sword wielder" asserting a specious venue argument to delay or avoid access altogether. As DCF's own authorities make clear, a state agency may properly be sued in the county were the act complained of is being committed, see State Dep't of Labor & Emp. Sec. v. Lindquist, 698 So. 2d 299, 302 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), and there is no distinguishing feature of this case to lead any court to a contrary result.

In a last-ditch effort to obtain conflict review, DCF asserts that the decision of the Fourth District interjects ambiguity into the "home court" venue privilege. To say the least, the authorities are consistent. First of all, each and every case cited by DCF recites the *same* definition of the privilege and the *same* definition of the "sword wielder" exception. Secondly, not a single authority— either in holding or dictum—describes a fact pattern like this one where the underlying action was already in existence; where the records were part and parcel of the existing action; where the records were requested in the existing action; and where access was then and there refused.⁵ It would be contrary to Florida's fundamental policy of open government if state agency access matters like this one could be litigated only in Leon County. Clearly, the underlying public policy would be subverted by placing such a burden both on Florida citizens and the courts of Leon County. This Court should not countenance such a result.

II

In conclusory fashion, DCF contends that the decision below expressly affects the powers and duties of constitutional or state officers. In <u>Spradley v. State</u>, 293 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1974), this Court held that a decision does not fall within this type of jurisdiction unless it meets a very restrictive test. It must "directly and, in some way, exclusively affect the duties, powers, validity, formation, termination, or

In fact, the sole duty imposed by the SUN-SENTINEL's request was on the trial court to determine the propriety of the SUN-SENTINEL's "good cause" petition, an issue which turns on the privacy and fair trial rights of the parties to the suit -- not DCF.

regulation of a particular class of constitutional or state officers." <u>Id.</u> at 701. In other words, any simple modification, construction or extension of some general principle or body of law is not enough. In this case, the impact of the Fourth District's decision addresses a judicially created exception to a *venue* statute, and the holding is limited to the facts of this case. Moreover, the decision does not impact any *officer* of the agency. DCF's argument in this regard falls short of the requi-site jurisdictional basis under Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

CONCLUSION

There is no basis for jurisdiction in this case. The request therefor must be denied.

See Gerald Kogan & Robert C. Waters, <u>The Operation and Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court</u>, 18 Nova L. Rev. 1151, 1222 (Winter 1994).